1988

Joan E. Davis v. The State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of this Court is found in Utah Code Annotated Section 78-2-2(3)(j)(1988 cum. supp.) whereby the Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction over orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Utah Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction. In this case final judgment was rendered by the Honorable Dennis Frederick, Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah on the 12th day of April, 1988.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The lower court heard argument and evidence on the State's petition. In a memorandum decision dated April 12, 1988, the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick, District Court Judge, ruled that the 1987 Dodge Caravan should be forfeited. (The Memorandum Decision is attached as Addendum A). There are two volumes of transcripts of the record below. Volume I is referred to with an "R" and volume II is referred to with an R.II. The transcripts also make reference to the testimony of Officer Steven Olson given at the preliminary hearings of Mike Davis and Joan Davis. These are attached as Addendum F (Mike Davis) and Addendum G (Joan Davis).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is the statute on takings, Utah Code Annotated Section 58-37-13 (1953 as amended) as applied to this case unconstitutional under both the State and Federal Constitutions because the results are grossly disproportionate to the crime?
2. Is the taking and subsequent sale of the 1987 Dodge Caravan supported by the facts of this case and the plain intent of Utah Code Ann. 58-37-13?
3. Is there a security interest that prohibits forfeiture in this case?
4. May Officer William McCarthy's testimony be given in civil proceedings if the State relies on statements made during criminal custody but before a Miranda warning was issued?
5. Does the warrantless seizure of the 1987 Dodge Caravan invalidate the proceedings below?

TEXT OF CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution:

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.

Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution:

[Due process of law.]

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Article I, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution:

[Excessive bail and fines--Cruel punishments.]

Excessive bail shall not be required; excessive fines shall not be imposed; nor shall cruel and unusual punishments be inflicted. Person arrested or imprisoned shall not be treated with unnecessary rigor.

Article I, Section 14 of the Utah Constitution:

[Unreasonable searches forbidden--Issuance of warrant.]

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized.

Utah Code Annotated Section 58-37-13 (1987)

Utah Code Ann. Section 58-37-13 reads in pertinent part:

(1)(e) all conveyances including aircraft, vehicles, or vessels used or intended for use, to transport, or in any manner facilitate the transportation, sale, receipt, simple possession, or concealment of property described in Subsections (1)(a) or (1)(b), except that:

(i) a conveyance used by any person as a common carrier in the transaction of business as a common carrier may not be forfeited under this section unless it

appears that the owner or other person in charge of the conveyance was a consenting party or privy to violation of this act;

(ii) a conveyance may not be forfeited under this section by reason of any act or omission committed or omitted without the owner's knowledge or consent; and

(iii) any forfeiture of a conveyance subject to a bona fide security interest is subject to the interest of a secured party who could not have known in the exercise of reasonable diligence that a violation would or did take place in the use of the conveyance;

.

(2) Property subject to forfeiture under this act may be seized by any peace officer of this state upon process issued by any court having jurisdiction over the property. However, seizure without process may be made when:

(a) the seizure is incident to an arrest or search under a search warrant or an inspection under an administrative inspection warrant;

(b) the property subject to seizure has been the subject of a prior judgment in favor of the state in a criminal injunction or forfeiture proceeding under this act;

(c) the peace officer has probable cause to believe that the property is directly or indirectly dangerous to health or safety; or

(d) the peace officer has probable cause to believe that the property has been used or intended to be used in violation of this act. . . .

The complete text of Utah Code Ann. 58-37-13 (1988 Cum. Supp) is attached as Addendum B.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH

JOAN E. DAVIS, et al.,	:	
Appellant,	:	
vs.	:	No. 88-282
STATE OF UTAH,	:	Priority 14(b)
Respondent.	:	

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment rendered by the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, the Honorable Dennis Frederick presiding. The State of Utah sought the forfeiture of a 1987 Dodge Caravan on the basis that it had been used in the transportation of one quarter (1/4) ounce of marijuana, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Section 58-37-13 (1953 as amended). The District Court allowed that forfeiture. This appeal is to determine whether the lower court abused its discretion in allowing the forfeiture of the vehicle.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant desires that the lower court's decision be reversed, that Appellants' property (or its approximate value) be ordered returned, and that this case be remanded with instructions either to dismiss the case or provide appellant with a new hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of January 19, 1988, Salt Lake City Police Officers entered the residence of Joan E. Davis and Gerald Davis at 140 West Gregson Ave., Salt Lake City, Salt Lake County, State

of Utah. At that time said Police Officers arrested Joan E. Davis and took possession of a 1987 Dodge Van, License # Utah 720BHT, VIN 2B4FK51G5HR179096. The 1987 Dodge van was in the driveway of the Davis' residence. The van was purchased in May of 1987 from Hinckley Dodge in Salt Lake City, Utah for approximately \$15,500 (R. 56-57).

The taking of the vehicle was carried out without a valid search warrant (R.II. 54-55 and Preliminary Hearing Transcript of Joan Davis, Officer Olson's testimony at 14). Moreover, the seizure of the vehicle occurred on January 19, 1988, over five months after the alleged marijuana transaction involving the van took place on August 4, 1987.¹ The facts involving the purchase of the marijuana transaction are in dispute and are developed in detail in Point II, infra. Not in dispute, however, is that Appellant Joan Davis did not sell, purchase, exchange money, or volunteer to get marijuana (R.II. 20-23). At the most, Joan Davis was only present to purchase marijuana for her own consumption (R.II. 5-6).

In purchasing the vehicle, Appellant's husband, Gerald Davis borrowed \$10,500 from Rosalee Hansen (R. 7, 35-36, 57). On May 9, 1987, Gerald Davis signed a contract with Rosalee Hansen for the loan of \$10,500 and agreed to pay her \$250 per month at 5% interest until the loan was paid in full (R. 36-37, 57) (See

¹ The information and affidavit of Officer Olson states that the alleged transaction took place on August 8, 1987. (See Addendum D). Testimony of Officer Olson supports that the alleged transaction occurred on August 4, 1987, not August 8.

Addendum C). Gerald Davis further agreed to give the title of the vehicle to Rosalee Hansen as security for the payment of the loan (R. 58). Gerald Davis had made the monthly payments noted since May 1987 to April 1988 (R.58).

Gerald Davis has an ownership interest in the van even though his name does not appear on the title. Furthermore, Gerald Davis had no knowledge nor did he consent to any controlled substance violation as contemplated by Utah Code Ann. Section 58-37-13 (1953 as amended) (R. 60).

Rosalee Hansen has a bona fide security interest in the Dodge Van vehicle identified above. This security interest came about when Rosalee Hansen loaned \$10,500 to Gerald Davis to purchase said vehicle. The loan was made on or about May 9, 1987 and Rosalee Hansen and Gerald Davis signed a Security Agreement attesting this (R. 36, 57) (Addendum C). Gerald Davis deposited \$9,000 of the \$10,500 in his bank account (R. 73) (the other \$1,500 was used to purchase a used truck).

On or about June 16, 1987 the title to the vehicle identified above was signed over to Rosalee Hansen by Appellant Joan Davis (R. 8-9). This was done as part of the Security Agreement and the duly executed title was given to Rosalee Hansen to hold pending full payment of the \$10,500 loan. Rosalee Hansen claims an interest in the vehicle identified above to the extent of her unpaid loan in the amount of \$8,663.50 (R. 38). Rosalee Hansen had no knowledge nor did she consent to any alleged controlled substances violation or involvement as contemplated by

Utah Code Ann. Section 58-37-13 (R. 39).

Joan E. Davis had no knowledge nor did she consent to any alleged controlled substance violation or involvement as contemplated by Section 58-37-13 (R. 13-14, 20).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Forfeiture proceedings must be reviewed on a case by case basis. There are instances where the result of forfeiture may be so great that the punishment is grossly disproportionate to crime charged violating both the United States and Utah Constitutions. Assuming, arguendo, that Joan Davis did participate in the transportation and distribution of marijuana as contemplated by Utah Code Ann. Section 58-37-13 (1953 as amended), the result of forfeiture exceeds the constitutional bounds of permissible fines.

Further, forfeiture is not supported by the facts of this case. The State of Utah's key witness, Officer Olson, contradicted himself on the witness stand and in his written reports. Joan Davis' testimony is supported by the testimony of two other individuals. Joan Davis had no part or knowledge of the drug transaction that occurred on August 4, 1987 which is the subject of this appeal.

Even should this Court find Officer Olson's testimony more credible and convincing than Ms. Davis', Mike Davis', and Kevin Canham's, Officer Olson's testimony clearly indicates that Ms. Davis' alleged participation did not rise to the level of transportation to accomplish possession, but rather only to

transportation with possession. Utah Code Ann. Section 58-37-13 is intended to strike at individuals involved in the trafficking of drugs. At most, Ms. Davis' alleged activity is one of a purchaser, agent, or one making an "accommodation call." Utah's forfeiture statute is not intended to strike at such individuals.

The result of forfeiture also violates the rights of Gerald Davis and Rosalee Hansen. Gerald Davis and Rosalee Hansen both had a bona fide security interest in the 1987 Dodge Van. Utah's forfeiture statute protects such individuals and nowhere requires that the security interest be perfected.

Further, a statement Joan Davis made while in custody without a Miranda warning was used during the forfeiture proceeding as proof that Joan Davis was the sole owner of the 1987 Dodge Van and was relied on in the district court's final ruling. This statement was incomplete as was the questioning which prompted the response and should not have been allowed since evidence which is obtained in violation of the fourth amendment may not be relied on to sustain a forfeiture.

Finally, the seizure of the 1987 Dodge Van occurred on January 19, 1988 over five months after the alleged August 4, 1987 transaction. Police officers seized the van without a warrant. Utah's forfeiture statute requires a warrant to accomplish seizure of a vehicle with limited exceptions that are not applicable in this case. A warrantless seizure is in violation of Ms. Davis' rights under both the Utah and United States Constitutions.

ARGUMENT

I. THE RESULT OF FORFEITURE IN THIS CASE UNDER UTAH CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 58-37-13 (1953 AS AMENDED) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES IT IS GROSSLY DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE CRIME CHARGED.

A. THE PENALTY OF FORFEITURE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND DISPROPORTIONATE IN THIS CASE.

The eighth amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." Similarly, Article I, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution provides, "Excessive bail shall not be required; excessive fines shall not be imposed; nor shall cruel and unusual punishments be inflicted. Persons arrested or imprisoned shall not be treated with unnecessary rigor."

Forfeiture under Utah Code Annotated Section 58-37-13 (1988 Cum. Supp) is clearly "punishment" as that term is used in the eighth amendment. Additionally, forfeiture, although punishment, has been upheld in Utah as proper civil punishment regardless of the amount involved in a drug transaction or the profit motive. See State v. One 1983 Pontiac (Joe Arave), 717 P.2d 1338 (Utah 1986) (overruling in part State v. One (1) Porsche 2-Door, 526 P.2d 917 (Utah 1974)); State v. One 1982 Silver Honda Motorcycle, 735 P.2d 392 (Utah 1987). The United States Supreme Court has held that the eighth amendment "prohibits not only barbaric punishments, but also sentences that are disproportionate to the crime committed." See U.S. v. Busher, 817 F.2d 1409, 1414 (9th Cir. 1987) (citing Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983)).

This Court has previously stated that "As for the small amount of drugs involved, '[t]he courts have uniformly held that a vehicle is subject to forfeiture no matter how small the quantity of contraband found.'" State v. One 1983 Pontiac (Joe Arave), 717 P.2d 1338, 1340 (Utah 1986) (citations omitted). Arguments have been proposed and upheld, however, that forfeiture may exceed constitutional bounds and courts must look at the results of forfeiture to determine if forfeiture is violative of the eighth amendment.² The time is ripe for the Utah Supreme Court to make such a consideration and determine if in this case the fine of forfeiture exceeds constitutional bounds.

In U.S. v. Busher, 817 F.2d 1409 (9th Cir. 1987) the defendant was convicted of federal racketeering provisions and his business interests were ordered forfeited. The 9th Circuit determined that even though the forfeiture statute provided no discretion, "the district court must avoid unconstitutional results by fashioning forfeiture orders that stay within constitutional bounds." Busher 817 F.2d at 1415 (emphasis added).

In determining whether a forfeiture order is so disproportionate as to violate the eighth amendment, the 9th Circuit stated a district court must, consistent with Solem, "consider (1) the harshness of the penalty in light of the gravity of the offense; (2) sentences imposed for other offenses

² One such court is the Ninth Circuit. The Utah Supreme Court cited One 1976 Porsche 911 S, 670 F.2d 810 (9th Cir. 1979) in reaching its decision in One 1983 Pontiac, 717 P.2d 1338.

in the federal system; and (3) sentences imposed for the same or similar offenses in other jurisdictions. Id. (citing Solem, 463 U.S. at 292). The 9th Circuit has added that a court is not limited to the factors specifically mentioned in Busher, but may take into account other relevant considerations. U.S. v. Littlefield, 821 F.2d 1365 (9th Cir. 1987) (determining that in forfeiture of property used to cultivate marijuana a court may consider the value of the illegal drugs cultivated on the property, and the nexus between the portion of the property actually used to grow the marijuana plants and the rest of the land).

This case is appropriate for this Court to determine if similar discretion is to be given to forfeiture proceedings under Utah Code Ann. 58-37-13. Assuming, arguendo, a \$35.00 marijuana purchase did take place in appellant's van, forfeiture of the van went beyond constitutional bounds. The State's chief witness, Officer Steve Olson (the involved undercover narcotics agent) testified that Appellant Joan Davis drove them to a home where Appellant, Olson, Appellant's son Mike and his two friends Walt King and Kevin Canham could acquire marijuana. Olson testified that Joan Davis' son, Mike, left the van and entered an apartment where he purchased marijuana (Olson has given different accounts of the transaction itself, see Point II and defense counsel's closing argument at R. 79-81), and that upon Mike Davis' return to the van, Appellant divided 1/4 an ounce of marijuana into two 1/8 ounce portions while all parties were sitting in the van

(Appellant denies these allegations) (R.II. 9). Upon calling Appellant at her home on a later occasion and stating he wanted to buy marijuana from her son, Appellant informed Officer Olson that her son didn't sell marijuana (R. 14).

The harshness of the penalty in light of the gravity of the offense in this case is severe and in violation of both the eighth amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution. Appellant (at time of appeal) is still awaiting a criminal prosecution carrying a potential penalty of five years in prison and a \$5,000 fine. In addition to this penalty, Appellant has forfeited her van recently purchased at the time of the arrest for approximately \$15,500.

B. THE ACTIVITY OF MS. DAVIS AND THE 1987 DODGE VAN IS NOT OF THE TYPE CONSIDERED BY THE UTAH FORFEITURE STATUTE; UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE FORFEITURE IS EXCESSIVE AND VIOLATES THE UTAH AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

Appellant's activity, as alleged by Officer Olson, does not rise to the level of transportation and distribution as required by Utah Code Ann. Section 58-37-13 (1953 as amended). Although Officer Olson's police report alleges that he purchased marijuana from the "defendant," when questioned about this at the forfeiture proceedings, Officer Olson clarified that "defendant" meant the parties involved. Officer Olson testified that when he asked Mike Davis what his mother was doing with him, Mike Davis told him that she was there to buy some marijuana for herself. Officer Olson did not purchase marijuana from Joan Davis. (R.II

20-23). Officer Olson never asked Joan Davis if she would get the marijuana (R.II. 20). Joan Davis never volunteered to get the marijuana (R.II. 21). Joan Davis never paid Olson for the marijuana and Officer Olson never gave Joan Davis money to get marijuana (R.II. 21). Joan Davis' alleged involvement and the alleged involvement of her van never went beyond that of personal purchase. Neither Joan Davis nor her van were involved in the distribution and transportation of marijuana within the intent and purposes of Utah Code Ann. Section 58-37-13. (See also Point II infra.)

As the activity did not rise to the level of distribution and transportation for purposes of the statute, the sentence imposed does not fit the purpose of the Utah Forfeiture Statute. The alleged activity of Joan Davis does not meet the imposed sentence under the Utah statute and fails to meet forfeiture statutes in other federal or state jurisdictions because distribution and transportation are threshold elements to forfeiture. Joan Davis, if involved, was nothing more than a consumer. Neither she nor the 1987 van were necessary to the key transaction all of which took place outside the van.

These facts do not support that Appellant was aware of and supporting her son in drug dealing activities. The evidence is sufficiently inconclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt. State v. One 1982 Silver Honda Motorcycle, 735 P.2d 392 (Utah 1987) (upholding forfeiture because evidence was not sufficiently

inconclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt). Consequently, the penalty of forfeiture is harsh and unduly disproportionate and should be reversed since it is an excessive fine in violation of the Utah and United States constitutions.

Appellant has been criminally charged with a single violation of Utah Code Annotated 58-37-8(i)(a)(ii) (1953 as amended), a third degree felony carrying a potential penalty of five years imprisonment and a \$5,000 fine. Under the circumstances of this case, to permit a civil fine to exceed the criminal penalty by 300 per cent is disproportionate and unduly harsh and exceeds the bounds of the Utah and United States Constitution. "Forfeitures are not favored and should be enforced only when within both the letter and the spirit of the law." United States v. One 1976 Buick Skylark, Etc., 453 F.Supp. 639, 643 (D.Colo. 1978). This case does not fall within the purpose of the forfeiture statute.

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