1988

# Joan E. Davis v. The State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### 9. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Several of the issues raised by the petitioners' brief are improper. The issues were never raised by the pleadings or to the trial court. Raising them on appeal for the first time is improper.

One 1987 Dodge van, Utah license 720BHT, was used by the registered owner to facilitate the sale and/or transportation of a controlled substance. This is a violation of Utah Code, Section 58-37-13, the result of which is a forfeiture of the vehicle to the State of Utah. The statute's intent and meaning are clear. None of the exceptions apply and therefore, the property is forfeitable.

Certificate of title is absolute evidence of ownership. The Motor Vehicle Act of the Utah Code sets forth very specific actions that must take place at the time a vehicle is registered. A certificate of title puts creditors and encumbrancers on notice as to who the owner is and these persons have a right to be able to rely upon the certificate of title.

In order for a security interest to be effective, it must also appear of record. The Motor Vehicle Act sets forth specific actions which must take place to create a security interest. None of the provisions were complied with, making

any alleged interest in the van null and void.

The petitioners' testimonies at trial were not credible. The stories they told were filled with discrepancies. Each of their testimonies was conflicting as to themselves and as to the other petitioners. The trial court found there to be loose ends and unexplained circumstances in the stories presented to the court.

#### 10. DETAIL OF ARGUMENTS

##### I. ISSUES RAISED BY THE PLAINTIFF ARE IMPROPER

It is well established that issues not raised by the pleadings or addressed by the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Lane v. Messer, 731 P.2d 448, 491 (Utah 1986). The only issue raised at trial was ownership of the van. Therefore, the following issues raised by the brief submitted by Joan E. Davis, et al., are improper:

1. Is the statute on takings, Utah Code Annotated Section 58-37-13 (1953 as amended), as applied to this case unconstitutional under both the State and Federal Constitutions because the results are grossly disproportionate to the crime?

2. Is the taking and subsequent sale of the 1987 Dodge Caravan supported by the plain intent of Utah Code Ann, 58-37-13?

4. May Officer William McCarthy's testimony be given in civil proceedings if the State relies on statements made

during criminal custody but before a Miranda warning was issued?

5. Does the warrantless seizure of the 1987 Dodge Caravan invalidate the proceedings below? (Brief of the appellant at page vii).

Judge Frederick clearly stated the issue as "whether claimants Gerald Davis or his wife Joan Davis was the owner of the vehicle in question and whether or not the claimant Rosalee Hanson possessed a bona fide security interest precluding forfeiture at least to the extent of hers, Rosalee Hansen's, claimed interests." (R.38 P.4). Therefore, the only proper issues presented to this court is whether there was a protectable security interest in the van and whether the facts support the forfeiture.

## II. FORFEITURE WAS APPROPRIATE UNDER THE FACTS PRESENTED

Utah Code, Section 58-37-13 provides for the forfeiture of a vehicle used, or intended for use, to transport, or in any manner facilitate the transportation, sale, receipt, simple possession, or concealment of a controlled substance. The van was used to transport the parties to an apartment complex where marijuana was purchased and then the van returned the parties to a location where they exited the van after the marijuana was divided inside the van. (R.37 P.8, 9, 10). The statute is clear in its meaning and was amended in 1987 to include simple possession. In addition, the van was used to facilitate a transportation and sale of

marijuana. One Blue 1977 AMC Jeep CJ-5 v. U.S., 783 P.2d 759 (8th Cir. 1986).

In State v. One 1983 Pontiac, 717 P.2d 1338, 1340 (Utah 1986), the court aligns itself with the substantial amount of authority that hold a vehicle is subject to forfeiture no matter how small the quantity of contraband. The legislature, a year after this decision, brought the statute up to date by replacing possession with simple possession. Utah Code, Section 58-37-13 (1987 and 1986). The Pontiac case further points out that the value of the vehicle in proportion to the amount of drugs is immaterial. Pontiac at 1341. Additionally, Judge Frederick found that the van was knowingly used to facilitate a sale of a controlled substance. (R.38 P.3). This court must review the evidence and all inferences which may reasonably be drawn from it in the light most favorable to the finder of fact. State v. Booker, 709 P.2d 342, 345 (Utah 1985). Judge Frederick found Joan Davis's testimony not credible and that she used the van for the transportation and/or facilitation of the sale of marijuana. (R.38 P.3). Therefore, the van is subject to forfeiture.

### III. CERTIFICATE OF TITLE IS ABSOLUTE EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP

When applying for a certificate of title, the application must contain "[a] statement of the applicant's title and of all liens or encumbrances upon said vehicle and

the names and addresses of all persons having any interest therein and the nature of every such interest." Utah Code, Section 41-1-20(d) (1987-1988) (effective through December 31, 1987).

The actual certificate of title must contain "a statement of the owner's title and of all liens and encumbrances upon the vehicle therein described . . . " Utah Code, Section 41-1-37 (1988). In the event no lien or encumbrance appears on the certificate of title, it shall be delivered to the owner. *Utah Code, Section 41-1-39 (1988) (Emphasis added)*.

In determining who owns a vehicle in applying the Family Purposes doctrine, the certificate of title constitutes prima facie evidence of ownership. French v. Barrett, 733 P.2d 89 (1987). Additionally, the Supreme Court of Montana has held that the owner of a motor vehicle is that person whose name appears on the certificate of title. Kovacich v. Norgaard, 716 P.2d 633, 634 (Mont. 1986). A certificate of title provides notice who the actual owner is to all of third persons. See Id.

In this case, Joan E. Davis's name is the only one which appears on the certificate of title. Therefore, Joan E. Davis is the owner of the seized vehicle. (R.P.43).

#### IV. TRANSFER OF TITLE MAY ONLY BE ACCOMPLISHED THROUGH COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Transfer of title or interest in a vehicle may only be accomplished by compliance with the Motor Vehicle Act. In

order for an owner of a car to transfer title, he must remove the plates, send them to the Division of Motor Vehicles and pay a transfer fee. Utah Code, Section 41-1-62 (1988). Further, "[t]he owner shall endorse an assignment and warranty of title upon the valid certificate of title issued for such vehicle by the State of Utah or other state or country. Said endorsement and assignment shall include a statement of all liens or encumbrances thereto, and shall be verified under oath by the owner before a notary public or other person authorized by law to administer oaths, and he shall deliver the valid certificate of title and certificate of registration to the purchaser or transferee at the time of delivering the vehicle, or within 48 hours thereof . . . ." Utah Code, Section 41-1-63 (1988).

In order for a new owner to secure ownership in a vehicle, "[t]he transferee . . . shall present to the department the certificate of registration and the certificate of title, properly endorsed, and shall apply for and obtain a new certificate of title for said vehicle . . . ." Utah Code, Section 41-1-64 (1988). "The department upon receipt of a properly endorsed certificate of title and certificate of registration and proper application for registration, accompanied by the required fee and when satisfied as to the genuineness and regularity of such transfer and the right of the transferee to a certificate of title, shall re-register the

vehicle as upon a new registration in the name of the new owner and issue a new certificate of registration and a certificate of title as upon an original application." Utah Code, Section 41-1-71 (1988).

A transfer of ownership is not complete "[u]ntil the department shall have issued a new certificate of registration and certificate of ownership, delivery of any vehicle required to be registered shall be deemed not to have been made and title thereto shall be deemed not to have passed, and said intended transfer shall be deemed to be incomplete and not to be valid or effective for any purpose . . . " Utah Code, Section 41-1-72 (1988) (Emphasis added).

Therefore, because full statutory compliance has not been met, there was no transfer of title to Gerald Davis or Rosalee Hansen. Utah Code, Section 58-37-13 makes it clear that the Motor Vehicle Act is relevant by stating who must receive notice of a seizure.

"Notice of the seizure and intended forfeiture shall be filed with the county clerk, and served together with a copy of the complaint, upon all persons known to the county attorney to have a claim in the property by one of the following methods:

(i) upon each claimant whose name and address is known, at the last known address of the claimant, or upon each owner whose right, title, or interest is of record in the Division of Motor



Vehicles, by mailing a copy of the notice and complaint by certified mail to the address given upon the records of the division, which service is deemed complete even though the mail is refused or cannot be forwarded; and

(ii) upon all other claimants whose addresses are unknown, but who are believed to have an interest in the property, by one publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the county where the seizure was made."

Utah Code, Section 58-37-13(9)(c) (1988).

Therefore, the only proper party to this action was Joan Davis.

V. NO SECURITY INTEREST EXISTS IN A VEHICLE  
WITHOUT STATUTORY COMPLIANCE

To create a lien or security interest in a vehicle, Article Five of Chapter 41 of the Utah Code must be complied with. "[N]o lien, upon a registered vehicle, except a lien dependent upon possession, is valid as against the creditors of an owner acquiring a lien by levy or attachment or subsequent purchasers or encumbrances without notice until Sections 41-1-82 through 41-1-87 have been complied with." Utah Code, Section 41-1-80(1) (1988). "If the vehicle is of a type subject to registration but has not been registered, and no certificate of title has been issued, . . . then the owner shall file an application in the form of an original registration and issuance of an original certificate of title. Each application shall be accompanied by all applicable fees

under this chapter." Utah Code, Section 41-1-82 (1988).

Once application has been made, "the department shall file it, and when satisfied as to the authenticity of the application, shall issue a new certificate of title in usual form, giving the name of the owner and a statement of all liens or encumbrances certified to the department as existing against the vehicle." Utah Code, Section 41-1-83(1) (1988). "The filing and the issuance of a new certificate of title under Sections 41-1-82 and 41-1-83 constitute constructive notice of all liens and encumbrances against the vehicle to creditors of the owner, or to subsequent purchasers and encumbrancers." Utah Code, Section 41-1-85 (1988).

Joan Davis was registering a new van and she must have complied with the lien provisions of the code. (R.39 P.24). Gerald Davis and Rosalee Hansen accompanied Joan Davis to the bank at which time she had the certificate of title notarized in her name when they were on notice that their names did not appear as of record. (R.39 P.24, 58, 59, 66).

As evidenced by the certificate of title, no liens or encumbrances had been filed on the 1987 Dodge Caravan, Utah license 720BHT, VIN 2B4FK51G5HR179096 at the time of seizure and thus there are no legal liens or encumbrances. (R.P.21).

If this court were to find that, as petitioners point out, only a bona fide interest is required, Gerald Davis and

Rosalee Hansen still have no interest in the van.

Petitioners point out that bona fide may be defined as "honestly, openly and sincerely; without deceit or fraud." Black's Law Dictionary P.92 (5th Ed. 1983). (R.P.30). If, as petitioners allege, Gerald Davis and Rosalee Hansen have an interest in the seized vehicle, there is nothing bona fide about it.

The way they have chosen to memorialize their interest is, in fact, hidden from all creditors and the State of Utah, and the state is entitled to rely upon the certificate of title as evidence of ownership.

The purported agreement written on May 9, 1987, was kept by Rosalee Hansen in a safe in her home. (R.39 P.45-46). There was no way that anyone who wished to check for liens would ever discover one if, in fact, there was one. (R.39 P.45).

The legislature felt so strongly that all interest in a vehicle be indicated on the certificate of title that they made it a crime to fail to do so. "It is a misdemeanor for any person to fail or neglect to properly endorse and deliver a valid certificate of title to a transferee or owner lawfully entitled thereto within 48 hours . . . " Utah Code, Section 41-1-76 (1988).

If we were to accept petitioners' contention, anyone could claim an interest in a vehicle, never have it recorded

and the state or creditor's would never be able to rely on the certificate of title as evidence of ownership. The legislature carefully guarded against this very situation by its discussion of notice to encumbrancers of vehicles. "The filing and issuance of a new certificate of title . . . constitutes constructive notice of all liens and encumbrances against the vehicle to . . . subsequent . . . encumbrancers." Utah Code, Section 41-1-85 (1988). "The method provided . . . of giving constructive notice of an encumbrance upon a registered vehicle is exclusive." Utah Code, Section 41-1-87 (1988).

Gerald Davis made an oral representation to Lt. Marty Vuyk that there, in fact, was no written document evidencing a security interest in the seized vehicle. (R.37 P.58). Joan Davis also indicated to the seizing officers that the vehicle was hers and it was paid for. (R.37 P. 50-51). Judge Frederick found it significant that the purported agreement was written in the past tense. (R.38 P.5). Additionally, the alleged receipts given to Gerry Davis by Rosalee Hansen were illegible because she had failed to insert cardboard between the sheets and they had all been written over. (R.39 P.40).

There was no security agreement on file with the Division of Motor Vehicles and the story presented by the petitioners was not believed. The vehicle was registered and owned by Joan Davis only. If Rosalee Hansen and Gerald Davis

do have an interest in the van, they have failed to hold themselves out openly and the state is therefore entitled to forfeiture.

#### VI. PETITIONERS' TESTIMONY WAS NOT CREDIBLE

The state maintains a security interest did not exist on the van. Petitioners argue that there was a security interest held by Rosalee Hansen. Judge Frederick found that the testimony of the petitioners was not credible in critical areas. (R.38 P.4). "Where the evidence is in conflict we defer to the trial court's first-hand assessment of the witnesses' credibility and assume that the trial court believed those aspects of the evidence which support its findings." Hal Taylor Associates v. Union America, 657 P.2d 743, 749 (Utah 1982).

Judge Frederick points out several areas where the petitioners' story lacks credibility. Joan Davis completed the application for title and listed herself as the only owner without a lienholder. (R.38 P.4). Gerald Davis's testimony conflicts as to the date he became aware of the title in Joan Davis's name only. (R.38 P.4). Joan Davis told Detective McCarthy she owned the vehicle and testified at trial it belonged to her husband. (R.38 P.4). Gerald Davis phoned Lt. Vuyk the day after seizure indicating no written agreement existed indicating a security interest, yet testified he signed

one on May 9, 1987. (R.38 P.4, R.37 P.57).

Gerald Davis testified at trial he put \$2,900.00 down on the van. (R.37 P.61). In an affidavit filed with the court, he states he put \$5,000.00 down on the van. (R.P.34). Gerald Davis testified that he paid \$1,600.00 in cash yet he maintained a checking account at the time from which he paid the balance to Hinckley Dodge (R.37 P.70, 63).

Rosalee Hansen testified she received a \$9,700.00 cashier's check from a gentleman she didn't know. (R.37 P.51). She could not produce a receipt for it. (R.37 P.51). Rosalee Hansen kept the money in her home after going to the bank with the unknown person to cash the check. (R.37 P.52). Rosalee Hansen maintained several bank accounts during the time period. (R.37 P.52-53). The alleged security agreement was drafted on May 9, 1987, yet is written in the past tense. (R.38 P.5). The alleged receipts are illegible. (R.37 P.40).

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